
 
Town of Swanzey Zoning Board of Adjustment  Draft Minutes 
September 19, 2016 
Page 1 of 8 
 

 
 
 

Town of Swanzey, New Hampshire 
Swanzey Zoning Board of Adjustment 

Meeting Minutes – September 19, 2016 
 
Note:  Draft Minutes are subject to review, correction and approval by the Board. Review and approval of Minutes 
generally takes place at the next regularly scheduled meeting of the Board. 
 
A meeting of the Swanzey Zoning Board of Adjustment (ZBA) was called to order at 7:05 p.m. by Chair 
William Hutwelker. Present were Keith Thibault, Bryan Rudgers, Alternate Eric Kallio, Alternate Adam 
Mulhearn, and Beverly Bernard, Recording Secretary. The Recording Secretary called the roll and read 
the Agenda for the meeting. 
 
Absent:  Bob Mitchell, Sarah Tatro, Alternate Shane Bryant, Alternate Marty Geheran, and Alternate 
Charles Beauregard, Sr.  
 
Others Present:  Director of Planning and Community Development Sara Carbonneau, Dave Bergeron of 
Brickstone Land Use Consultants, LLC, Mike Pappas, Eunice Pappas, Liz & John Traynor, June Messer and 
Angela White. 
 
MINUTES 

• The Board considered the minutes of July 18, 2016. No quorum for a vote. 
• The Board considered the minutes of August 15, 2016. There was a motion to approve the 

Minutes of August 15, 2016 by Thibault and there was a second by Rudgers. All were in favor. 
Motion passed. 

 
PUBLIC HEARINGS 

A. Variance Applications - Public Hearing opened at 7:08 p.m.   
Mike Pappas requests variances from Section IV.B.1. to permit the operation of an office for an 
existing equestrian business and an office for a proposed construction business in the existing 
house; and to allow for the parking/storage of construction equipment. The property is located 
at 6 South Road and is situated in the Residence District.  The property is shown at Tax Map 31, 
Lot 3.  The property is owned by Eunice Pappas. 
 
The Chair seated Kallio for Mitchell and Mulhearn for Tatro and seated himself, Thibault, Kallio, 
Mulhearn and Rudgers for this hearing. 
 
Discussion: Bergeron presented the plan for the project and he focused on the portion of the 
property at the intersection of South Road and State Route 32. He spoke about screening the 
area adjacent to State Route 32 from the construction equipment with a solid wood fence.  He 
spoke about the building being used as two apartments and as an office. Bergeron reviewed the 
application questions.  He said that the property has operated as an equestrian business for 
many years. He noted that Mr. Pappas has already begun to improve the buildings. Bergeron 



 
Town of Swanzey Zoning Board of Adjustment  Draft Minutes 
September 19, 2016 
Page 2 of 8 
 

pointed out that he will be able to bring his business into town and pay taxes and improve the 
equestrian business. Bergeron addressed the construction equipment. The equipment will be on 
the site when they are not being used.  No additional noise because trucks will be out on the job 
site. He spoke about the loam that was present, noting that it had been removed from the 
paddock area in order to improve the paddock.  The loam is being augmented with the manure 
generated on site and will be used in off-site construction projects.     Bergeron addressed 
abutting homes saying there is a large screening of trees between the closest abutter; the next 
closest abutter is over 800 feet away on the other side of the river. Bergeron said there are not a 
lot of close neighbors.  He said that the property is distinguished from other properties because 
of the history of multi-family use of the building and the equestrian business.  He said the lot is 
30 acres and the requested use is low intensity use because equipment will not be operating on 
the property.  He noted that there is activity now because of the improvements currently being 
completed on the land and buildings but there will be less activity as those improvements are 
completed. Bergeron continued saying the use is a reasonable use because of the size of the lot 
and the screening and no one else will be viewing the property.  Bergeron said that some type of 
equipment is necessary for distributing feed, handling manure, and moving material around to 
help the business grow and do well. 
 
Rudgers asked about the loam screen and the long term plan for loam. Bergeron said there is no 
rock crusher on site and the screen makes only a humming noise and screen is required for 
mixing the horse manure with the loam. Kallio asked about the time the equipment will be 
running and Bergeron said possibly from 7 am to 5 pm but not expected at night. Mulhearn 
asked for the number of equipment – Pappas responded that he has 4 dump trucks, a lift, a 
backhoe, plow, and at paddocks in back they will moving snow with plow to clear the paddocks. 
He said it is necessary to have this kind of equipment for the use of the property as an 
equestrian facility.  He also said the loam shaker is not a loud piece of equipment and they are 
all relatively new and fairly quiet.  
 
Carbonneau asked how many employees he has and Pappas said he has 12 employees full-time 
and 4 part-timers. Employees of the equestrian business are two persons.  She asked about 
commercial plowing in the winter and he said yes they would be doing that.  Pappas said his salt 
bin is in Keene so the plowing business will remain in Keene.  
 
Thibault asked about the office; Pappas said that the office will be used for both the 
construction business and equestrian business. He noted that the office space is coming out of a 
portion of the building that was non-conforming with three apartments.  Thibault asked what 
happens in an equestrian business office and Pappas responded that there is scheduling, 
lessons, and making of payments to be handled. Pappas said that during the winter, riders will 
ride inside and business increases. Some of the parking there will be for customers.   Pappas said 
he won’t be bringing in aggregates to the site.  Fencing will probably be white vinyl.  Bergeron 
noted that the site plan review with the Planning Board will confirm the extent and type of 
fencing.  Pappas added there are 33 stalls for horses with about 20 horses present now.  He said 
that the 110’ X 60’ barn is a lot of space for riding a horse indoors. 
 



 
Town of Swanzey Zoning Board of Adjustment  Draft Minutes 
September 19, 2016 
Page 3 of 8 
 

There was a discussion about the property being residential for 20 past years.  Bergeron said his 
guess is that the equestrian business has been there at least 30 years.  Hutwelker asked how the 
construction equipment fits into the equestrian business. Hutwelker said that he felt the 
amount of equipment is excessive for the equestrian business and asked Bergeron to support 
the view that the equipment is suitable. 

 
Bergeron introduced email from Becky Avery, resident of 36 South Road, supporting the request 
of Pappas for variance in use of the property at 6 South Road and who stated that she is not 
offended by noise coming from the property. Hutwelker said the Board does take into 
consideration interested citizens comments and referred to Victoria Ames comments in her 
letter of August 5, 2016 outlining support for the equestrian business but not for the 
construction business. 
 
Eunice Pappas said that the equipment on the properties is being used and will be used for 
supporting horses.  There are shavings, hay, manure to be handled and land flattened for riding.  
She said that if a person has never had to manage horses they might not understand the work 
involved, especially for a large number of horses. Hutwelker pointed out that the request in the 
application is for construction equipment not farm equipment. Mike Pappas asked if he should 
rephrase the request because he said he uses all the equipment for maintaining the equestrian 
business and needing to park the equipment for use of the farm.  He said every piece of 
equipment is used on the farm and he doesn’t want to have to move the equipment just to park 
it elsewhere.   
Thibault spoke about making a precedent in a residential area for similar use. He spoke about 
the spirit of the ordinance – how does construction equipment fit into a residence district zone 
is the issue that the ZBA has to address. Pappas stated that there has been an existing business 
there for many years – and it has been allowed by the Town over those years.  He said it is not 
something new. And he noted that there are other businesses being run on State Route 32.   
 
Bergeron pointed out that if there was a dairy farm there, you would have milk trucks, hay 
cutters, and other types of equipment to deal with a farm that are more intense than what is 
being proposed.  He added that there may be a truck or two a day coming and going once 
improvements have been completed.  Bergeron said it is a minor change to the property.  that 
permitting a construction company business is a minor change to the property.  
 
Rudgers discussed the unapproved issues with the property and the fact that the Town has 
ignored these over time. He said that he would have an issue with crushing rocks on the 
property. Bergeron addressed some of the issues raised in the Ames letter pointing out the 
Sawyer’s Crossing property issue will not be repeated on the South Road property. Mulhearn 
said the problem for him is that the wording of the application says construction, not farm 
equipment. 
 
Angela White asked why this one person (Ames) has an issue with this property.  Bergeron said 
that Ames lives about a mile away and said she could hear the equipment working. Hutwelker 
said Ames is a property owner abutter.  But the focus is on what uses are permitted in the 
residence district.  White said that it has always been a horse farm. 



 
Town of Swanzey Zoning Board of Adjustment  Draft Minutes 
September 19, 2016 
Page 4 of 8 
 

 
Liz Traynor, Swanzey resident, said it is clearly an agricultural use and why shouldn’t the zoning 
be changed to fix the problem.  Hutwelker emphasized the application does not represent the 
equipment as farming equipment.  It says that it refers to construction equipment and the Board 
has to deal with that.  The use of the property as a construction business is the issue. 
 
Carbonneau said that if the property was zoned rural/agricultural and if Mr. Pappas wanted to 
run a construction business, he would still need a variance.  Pappas said he wants to park 
vehicles on the site and will not be storing building materials on the site.  Thibault spoke about 
the application talking about construction vehicles. Pappas affirmed that the screening of loam 
is only for the equestrian business.  Rudgers said he wanted to clarify what he was hearing – 
that Pappas is not operating a construction business, instead it is the infrastructure of a 
construction business being used for the equestrian business.  Bergeron said they can’t call it 
accessory use – and can’t call it incidental. 
 
John Traynor, Swanzey resident, said the Town needs a balance between conserving land and 
supporting taxes for running the town – some business can’t all fit into the business zone – it is 
an old town with businesses which sprang up in different areas of town.  Thibault asked about 
signage planned for the construction site. Pappas said that he is thinking of hanging a small sign 
on the South Road side but he would be okay with no sign. 
 
Bergeron addressed issues raised by Ames letter.  He noted noise was raised. He said horse 
business will continue to create some level of noise from loam processing equipment.  He said 
the levels are very low. He said that in regard to doing substantial justice regarding the 
neighborhood, there is a letter from another neighbor who says it will not negatively impact her 
quality of life. He said Ames’ letter says no special conditions exist but Bergeron pointed out 
special conditions exist because there is already a commercial business on the site (equestrian 
operation) and it has been therefore many years.  
 
Kallio asked about going to the Planning Board and asked if the ZBA can put conditions on the 
use of the equipment if it decides to grant approval for the variances. 

 
The Chair asked the Board for questions and asked those present for further questions. Thibault 
asked about maintenance of vehicles and where will that occur and Pappas responded that that 
will be conducted somewhere else. Carbonneau repeated that the application is for a 
commercial contracting business, which will be used for an equestrian business.  Mulhearn said 
that he felt clarified to learn that the equipment will be used for the business and not for the 
construction business. 
There was discussion about the written application versus oral testimony. 
 
Public hearing closed at 8:17 pm. 

 
The Chair reviewed the Checklist for Granting a Variance with the members of the Board: 
 
Could the variances be granted without being contrary to the public interest?  
Members said:  Rudgers – yes; Mulhearn – yes; Thibault – yes; Kallio – yes; Hutwelker noted the number of 



 
Town of Swanzey Zoning Board of Adjustment  Draft Minutes 
September 19, 2016 
Page 5 of 8 
 

employees and said no. 
 
Would the spirit of the ordinance be observed if the variances were granted? 

Members said: Kallio – yes – he said the property will be used for agricultural purposes per the oral 
testimony; Mulhearn – yes, Rudgers – yes, Thibault – yes; Hutwelker - no  
 

Would the granting the variances do substantial justice? 
Members said: Mulhearn – yes; Rudgers – yes; Thibault – yes; Kallio – yes; Hutwelker - no 
 

Could the variances be granted without diminishing surrounding property values? 
Members said: yes 
 

Do special conditions of the property exist that distinguish it from other properties in the area?   
Members said:   all said yes – 30 acres – and long standing use as an equestrian business 
 
a. Owing to the special conditions of the property that distinguish it from other property in the area, 

there is not a fair and substantial relationship between the general public purpose of the ordinance 
and the specific application of the provision to the property?  Members said:  Rudgers – yes; 
Mulhearn – yes; Kallio – yes; Thibault – yes; Hutwelker - no 

b. Are the proposed uses a reasonable one?  Members said: Kallio – said yes based on testimony that 
the equipment will be used for agricultural purposes; Thibault – yes; Mulhearn – said yes given the 
oral testimony that the intent is not to open a construction business but to maintain construction 
equipment to assist the equestrian business; Rudgers – yes; Hutwelker - no 

c. If the criteria in subparagraph a. and b. are not met, an unnecessary hardship will be deemed to exist 
if, and only if: Owing to the special conditions of the property that distinguish it from other properties 
in the area the property cannot be reasonably used in strict conformance with the ordinance, and a 
variance is necessary to enable a reasonable use of the property. Members said: 

 
The Chair reported that “yes” prevailed and he entertained a motion to grant the request for 
Variance from Section IV.B.1. 
 
Motion was made by Thibault to grant the request of Mike Pappas for variances from Section 
IV.B.1. to permit the operation of an existing equestrian business and proposed construction 
business and to allow for the parking/storage of construction equipment  on property located at 
6 South Road, situated in the Residence District, shown at Tax Map 31, Lot 3 and owned by 
Eunice Pappas so long as the business is limited to storage of parking of construction-related 
equipment for the construction business and no other construction related uses are engaged in 
such as storage of construction materials or dumping of construction type materials and/or sales 
of construction materials. Kallio seconded the motion.   All were in favor except Hutwelker who 
was opposed. Motion passed. 
 
Public Hearing opened at 8:30 pm. 
 
The ZBA addressed the second request of Mike Pappas for use of a house for an office. Bergeron 
addressed this next. He noted that the 3rd apartment that currently exists in the building will be 
made into an office. An office is necessary for the equestrian business which has been there for 
a long time. He noted that the exterior of the building will not change. Bergeron said the office is 
of low intensity use.  The office will also serve for bookkeeping function for the construction 



 
Town of Swanzey Zoning Board of Adjustment  Draft Minutes 
September 19, 2016 
Page 6 of 8 
 

business as well.  He said the office won’t change the value of anyone else’s property. Public 
driving by will not notice the difference.  He said the special condition of the business is that it is 
an equestrian business which distinguishes this property from other properties in the area.  
Bergeron said that the use is a reasonable one: no customers will be coming to the location; the 
employees will be doing bookkeeping and scheduling. He said it is necessary to have an office to 
run the equestrian business. Mike Pappas spoke about the one room apartment/efficiency – and 
noted there is no door to the rest of the house.  Carbonneau said it was never an approved third 
housing unit. 
 
Public Hearing closed at 8:40 pm 

 
The Chair reviewed the Checklist for Granting a Variance with the members of the Board: 
 
Could the variances be granted without being contrary to the public interest?  
Members said:  all said yes 
 
Would the spirit of the ordinance be observed if the variances were granted? 

Members said: all said yes 
 

Would the granting the variances do substantial justice? 
Members said: all said yes 
 

Could the variances be granted without diminishing surrounding property values? 
Members said: all said yes 
 

Do special conditions of the property exist that distinguish it from other properties in the area?   
Members said:   all said yes 
 
d. Owing to the special conditions of the property that distinguish it from other property in the area, 

there is not a fair and substantial relationship between the general public purpose of the ordinance 
and the specific application of the provision to the property?  Members said:  all said yes 
 

e. Are the proposed uses a reasonable one?  Members said: all said yes 
f. If the criteria in subparagraph a. and b. are not met, an unnecessary hardship will be deemed to exist 

if, and only if: Owing to the special conditions of the property that distinguish it from other properties 
in the area the property cannot be reasonably used in strict conformance with the ordinance, and a 
variance is necessary to enable a reasonable use of the property. Members said:  Not needed. 

 
The Chair reported that “yes” prevailed and he entertained a motion to grant the request for 
Variance from Section IV.B.1. 
 
Motion was made by Mulhearn to grant the request of Mike Pappas for variances from Section 
IV.B.1. to permit the operation of an office for an existing equestrian business and an office for a 
proposed construction business in the existing house. There was a second to the motion by 
Kallio and no further discussion. All were in favor. Motion passed. 
 

B. Variance Application - Public Hearing opened at 8:42 pm.  



 
Town of Swanzey Zoning Board of Adjustment  Draft Minutes 
September 19, 2016 
Page 7 of 8 
 

June Messer requests a variance from Section IV.B.3. to permit the construction of a walkway 
(wooden ramp) that does not meet required setbacks. The property is located at 75 Wilson Pond 
Road and is situated in the Residence and Shoreland Protection Districts.  The property is shown 
at Tax Map 19, Lot 28.  
 
The Chair seated Mulhearn for Tatro and Kallio for Mitchell and seated himself, Thibault, 
Mulhearn, Rudgers and Kallio for this hearing. 
 
Carbonneau spoke about public notices provided and the application sent to Department Heads 
with no feedback from Department Heads.  She noted this property is on public water and 
public sewer and there is approval from New Hampshire Department of Environmental Services 
(NH DES) by Permit by Notification. 
 
Discussion:  Angela White, on behalf of the applicant June Messer, provided a drawing showing 
the wooden ramp to the house.   Carbonneau said that the deck is already there.  Rebuilding the 
deck needs no permission from the ZBA – just a building permit. White said the ramp is going to 
be a wooden walkway but not characterized as an American Disability Act (ADA) ramp. She said 
the wooden walkway is in the exact path and no wider than a brick walkway that is present but 
needs to be replaced because the bricks are heaving up creating hazardous conditions for 
anyone walking along the path. The walkway is away from the water according to White. There 
will be railings and Hutwelker asked about covering and White said there is no plan for a cover, 
but there will be lights.  She said it is fairly flat and there will not be a large incline. 

 
The Chair asked the Board for questions and asked those present for questions. There were 
none. 
 
Public hearing closed at 8:52 pm. 
 

The Chair reviewed the Checklist for Granting a Variance with the members of the Board: 
Could the variances be granted without being contrary to the public interest? 

Members said:  yes 
 

Would the spirit of the ordinance be observed if the variances were granted? 
Members said:  all said yes 
 

Would the granting the variances do substantial justice? 
Members said: all said yes 
 

Could the variances be granted without diminishing surrounding property values? 
Members said: all said yes 
 

Do special conditions of the property exist that distinguish it from other properties in the area?   
Members said: Mulhearn said there is a safety hazard according to oral testimony – all said yes 

 
1. Owing to the special conditions of the property that distinguish it from other property in the area, 

there is not a fair and substantial relationship between the general public purpose of the 
ordinance and the specific application of the provision to the property?  Members said:  yes 



 
Town of Swanzey Zoning Board of Adjustment  Draft Minutes 
September 19, 2016 
Page 8 of 8 
 

2. Are the proposed uses a reasonable one?  Members said: yes 
3. If the criteria in subparagraph a. and b. are not met, an unnecessary hardship will be deemed to 

exist if, and only if: Owing to the special conditions of the property that distinguish it from other 
properties in the area the property cannot be reasonably used in strict conformance with the 
ordinance, and a variance is necessary to enable a reasonable use of the property. 

 
The Chair reported that “yes” prevailed and he entertained a motion to grant the request for 
Variance from Section IV.B.3. 
 
Motion was made by Kallio to grant the request of June Messer for a variance from Section 
IV.B.3. to permit the construction of a walkway (wooden ramp) that does not meet required 
setbacks on property located at 75 Wilson Pond Road situated in the Residence and Shoreland 
Protection Districts and shown at Tax Map 19, Lot 28, as per the application.  There was a 
second by Mulhearn.  No further discussion.  All were in favor. Motion passed. 
 

OTHER MATTERS 
Carbonneau spoke about Supreme Court decisions in regard to signage needing to be content neutral 
and how communities are trying to deal with the ruling. Agri-tourism was discussed.  Political signs were 
discussed.  There was a discussion about changes to the rules around the variance questions, which 
didn’t pass the State legislature. Zoning Board notifications were discussed as to the number of days 
needed for notice. 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
Motion to adjourn was made by Thibault, seconded by Rudgers and all were in favor. Motion passed.  
Adjournment occurred at 9:05 p.m. 
 
Respectfully Submitted, 

 
 
Beverly Bernard, Recording Secretary 


